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Chairman's Message

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

We are navigating our businesses through global pandemic crisis, local political and economic crisis at the same time, since
2020-2021 Financial Year is the most challenging year within these two decades. In every crisis, there is an opportunity, if
we know where to look. With the unity of MTSH’s board of directors and strong hard working management teams and
workforce have proved that we can overcome this challenging situation with positive result even during such challenging
year. 2020-2021 earnings are up by 93 percent increased from 4.577 billion kyats to 8.846 billion. Our earnings per share
this year is at 218 ks per share which is almost double of what it was last year due to our Company’s good and swift financial
management of our reserves. We have also managed to keep our costs down and become more productive workforce re-

sulting in 24% savings from our selling and administrative expenses.

Our investments in Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Company Limited (MJTD) for the development of Thilawa Special
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IN EVERY CRISIS,
THERE IS AN
OPPORTUNITY,
IF WE KNOW
WHERE TO LOOK.

Economic Zone has managed to return a positive result due
to its recurring income generate from utility businesses
and rental factory business unit. However due to slow
down in FDI in the country, new land leases have slow
down dramatically resulting in share of income from MJTD
2.581 billion kyats compare to 8.628 billion kyats last year.
Positive point is that 85% of 113 factories from 20 coun-
tries factories located in Thilawa SEZ have resume back
their operations almost back to normal. We do expect
some factories will take longer to resume their operations
in such unprecedented times. For MJTD to become more
resilient, we have made a direction to automate some of
work flows and remote working. MJTD is also looking to
replace some portion of our utilities with renewable ener-
gy source in the near future, so that not only it will bring
financial benefits but also to contribute towards United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals, contributing to-
wards better social and environment benefits. Since MJTD
started Thilawa SEZ eight years ago, we have attracted 2.1
billion dollar worth of investments and created over twelve
thousand direct employment and we believe we will be
able to continue attracting investments once international
business environment has improved since Thilawa SEZ of-

fers the best infrastructure for factories in Myanmar.

| would also like to report that, there is new Thilawa SEZ
management committee Chairman, U Yan Naing Tun, who

is working closely and facilitate for the needs of investors to

create a more favorable business investment.

Thilawa SEZ have always been a symbolic friendship devel-
opment between Myanmar and Japan in all asepcts of both
economic and social development. | am confident that
strong collaboration between the two nations will ensure
our Thilawa SEZ development more prosperous and enjoy

a fast recovery and continuous success of MJTD.

Our subsidiary company Thilawa Property Development
Company Limited (TPD) also enjoy 21% increase in revenue
deriving to 1.9 billion kyats and net profit of 1.79 billion
kyats compare to net loss of 635 million kyats. It was
achieve through 72% of land lease and 13% from rental in-
come and balance 15% from utility and other services in-
come. With the careful management, retraining and re-
structuring of TPD’s organization structure, also contributed
39% reduction in administrative expense. We are working
on plans to attract more residence and visitors to Thilawa
Garden City by creating social amenities and beautiful
landscape that can’t be enjoy in busy Yangon City. Business
Continuity Plan (BCP) is our highest priority especially dur-
ing this disruptive time with COVID 19 pandemic. We have
managed to vaccinate 98% of our 219 strong staffs in our
Group. In addition to that, we have coordinated with the
stakeholders to vaccinate 11,009 staffs and 645 family
members working inside Thilawa SEZ, thanks to the kind
arrangement of Thilawa SEZ Management Committee.
MTSH have made a commitment to take care of all our
staffs and their families with regards to COVID 19 infection.
This has reassured our staffs and created a stress free envi-
ronment. We are still maintaining shift work and work from
home to safe guard and minimize the spread of COVID 19

within our working environment.

Although business is in downturn we have continue with
our CSR activities as per normal to support our communi-
ties. In the education sector, we have donated school sup-
plies to students and gave scholarship and contributed for
skill development programs for high school students and
young adults. For healthcare support, we have distributed

oxygen cylinders and much needed medical supplies and
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personal protective equipment to protect and combat

COVID 19 Pandemic.

During this financially difficult time, it wasn’t an easy
decision for us to propose a dividend for shareholder
approval since we have many new projects in the pipeline
which we needed to invest for the future benefit of our
shareholders. However, our Board of Director recognizes
the needs of our shareholders and decided (100 ks) per
share as dividend after managing carefully of our future
finances. | would like to express my deepest gratitude and
thanks to our shareholders for their trust, understanding
and promise to continuously develop the businesses that

will benefit for our stakeholders
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Our company, Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co.,
Ltd. was incorporated on 3 May 2013 in Myanmar under
the Companies Act as a public limited company. Our com-
pany was initially established by a Myanmar Consortium
comprising of nine founding shareholders initially for par-
ticipating in the Zone A industrial park development within
the Thilawa Special Economic Zone, which the Myanmar
Government and the Japanese Government have
co-invested to develop pursuant to the Cooperation
Memorandum. On the 20" of May 2016, our company’s
shares commenced trading on the Yangon Stock Exchange.
Our company is the second company to be listed on the
Yangon Stock Exchange and the first developer of a Special

Economic Zone of Myanmar to do so.

Out of nine founding shareholders, remaining seven found-

ers of the Company are as follow:

1. First Myanmar Investment Public

Company Limited

2. Golden Land East Asia Development

Public Company Limited

3. Myanma Agricultural & General

Development Public Company Limited

4. Myanmar Edible Qil Industrial Public
Company Limited

5. Myanmar Technologies and Investment

Corporation Public Company Limited

6. National Development Company Group Public

Company Limited
7.  New City Development Public Company Limited

With (17,259 ) of shareholders, MTSH is the public listed
company with the highest number of shareholders in

Myanmar.

Company Registration Number : 151830293
Certificate of Commencement : 66 of 2013-2014

of Business
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VISION . MISSION . VALUES

VISION

To invest in the deve-
lopment of Thilawa
SEZ, Yangon Region,
for all around socio
and economic grow-
th of the Republic of
the Union of Myan-
mar and to become a
regional leader attra-
cting foreign direct

investments
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Vision

MISSION

To create value for all
our shareholders, in-
vestors, partners,
employees and com-
munities by investing
and providing relia-
ble, sustainable busi-
ness environment
through the develop-
ment of world class
industrial and comm-
ercial infrastructure
with responsible in-
ternational practices
and good gover-
nance ensuring long

term growth

Values
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Corporate Value

SUSTAINABILITY
cgpBooiioitay @

The process followed diligently
to manage financial, social and
environmental risks, obligations
and opportunities.

RESPONSIBILITY

oofselosy o
Beyond normal CSR with a
responsibility to prevent

human rights harms,

whilst ensuring corrective avenues
are available for infringements.

NOTABLE o

wodeoyPodoCEtasy w
LA

Significant,

memorable and

worthy of attention.

TRAINING

eopoytootiopieuies; O
(8

Develop employee
skills to keep
the business competitive.

TRANSPARENCY
gEcudigEonpes:

There is a real need
for the business

to be open with all
stakeholders.

EFFICIENCY
H[gCensadigdicacntiCoqs

Maximize outputs
from given inputs,
and in doing so, (@‘@'

minimize costs.

GOAL ORIENTED
oegoﬁoﬁfﬁooé s]égoSqloSo$ o§8
eepcﬁfﬂcq

@)

<>

Focus on tasks
and the end result
of those tasks.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
ce:eonte

C$§ RJP a 515 roqy

Identify workplace
health and safety
risks and put together
comprehensive risk
mitigation measures.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
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: Out of 9 Founding Shareholders, 7 founders are remaining
: MMS Thilawa Development Co.,Ltd owned by

9 Founding
@ 1po Shareholders

Public

@ Ipo Shareholders

Japan International

Corporation Agency

MMS Thilawa

Development Co.,Ltd

(1) Mitsubishi Corporation, (2) Marubeni Corporation, (3) Sumitomo Corporation
(4) Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, (5) Mizuho Bank and, (6) MUFG Bank

MTSH BOARD STRUCTURE

@ Independent Directors

CHAIRMAN & Non-Executive Directors

1 @ Executive Directors

VICE
CHAIRMAN

L

3

INDEPENDENT
DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE

NON - DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS'

U Win Aung is the Chairman of the Myanmar Thilawa SEZ

Holdings Public Co., Ltd. He is one of the initiators and the
lead negotiator between Japan and Myanmar Government
leaders as well as founder Chairman for Myanmar private
sector’s involvement in the implementation of the Thilawa
SEZ jointly with the Japanese investors, to create invest-

ment opportunities for Myanmar Citizens.

U Win Aung founded and continues as the Chairman of the
Dagon Group of Companies since its establishmentin 1990.
Since 1993, Dagon Group of Companies has successfully
implemented property development projects. Dagon
Group of Companies engages in wide range of business in
general trading, residential and commercial development
such as shopping malls, hotel development, integrated ag-
ricultural development, value added food industry, logistics
and distribution, automobile distribution, petroleum distri-
bution, and in other business sectors. He is the Chairman
of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Limited (MAEX) which
specializes in agri value chain & infrastructure develop-
ment such as Danyingon vegetables, fruits and flower
wholesale market. He is also founder and Chairman of
Golden Land East Asia Development Limited (GLAD), which
is one of the founding public companies of MTSH. U Win
Aung was elected as President of Union of Myanmar Feder-
ation of Chamber of Commerce and Industries from 2011
to 2016.

He was also Chairman of ASEAN Business Advisory Council
(ABAC) (2013-2014) and Chairman of Greater Mekong
Sub-region Business forum (GMS-BF) (2012-2014). He was
also one of the members of National Economic and Social
Advisory Council (NESAC) & UNESCAP Advisory Council.

PROFILE

Bio€seemmCoopd Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public
Co., Ltd & pgglgbiloopdn B:o€:esmEoopd gromee Baod
MopBsgicapes 3eomEancopded edlodemnieqmogad qos
88¢5C [958 m8:qm3 :[0Fsmcdqpmlo:  p38Esqqp:
6600Eg053[Be qoS§EEHRECEqEPisEReadE] [g§e§ESamgp:
aE:845i04s8afatst saapddpSopapry speqbomcopiotitat
0g8mmme B:eamnEp3§E: memaolgRapedBigbiloogd

U WIN AUNG

Chairman

Date of Appointment : 8 July 2013
Last Re-elected : 24 June 2020

Bio:e83082005 Dagon Group of Companies o3 opeo 956038
B:ee00800p56000E3A00p51 Dagon Group of Companies 20pd
B6epg BpeeBoodSiqpiod opee 9560008 0olq camigien
3260mE200p56656800E Qo5 dlaopdi & aguSqarbesigps
Boocdapbega shopping mall gpar 0005¢cocSomdodes:
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32050§3305(8)§§: 3qp:8Ec880o05 (Myanmar Agro Exchange
Public Ltd - MAEX) 03 B:eson€onpbecontap pgagondBigbiloogb
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32qP3EorgBypiopt 0odesadsnotfgbeon Golden Land East
Asia Development Limited (GLAD) &l pgagondBscopbs{gbcloogb
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U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun (“U Theim Wai”) is the Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors and one of the Principal
Shareholders of the Company. He is a Myanmar national
and the Executive Chairman of FMI. In 1983, he founded
Serge Pun & Associates Limited in Hong Kong SAR and
eventually returned to Myanmar, the country of his birth,
to establish Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Limited

("SPA") in 1991.

In 1992, U Theim Wai established FMI as one of the earliest
(unlisted) public companies in Myanmar. In 2006, he led
Yoma Strategic to a successful listing on the Mainboard of
the SGX-ST. In 2016, he also led FMI to be the first company
to be listed on the YSX. He was also instrumental in listing
Memories Group on the Catalist Board of the SGX-ST in
2018.

U Theim Wai is a member of the ASEAN Regional Business
Council. He is a standing member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Dalian and a member
of the Asia Business Council. He is also the Chair of the In-
ternational Advisory Board of Singapore Management Uni-
versity for Myanmar. U Theim Wai is a frequent speaker in

international forums in Myanmar and ASEAN Region.

U THEIM WAI

Vice Chairman

Date of Appointment : 8 July 2013
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021
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Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet is an Independent Director of the
Company. He serves as member of the Peace Commission,
Honorary Professor at the University of British Columbia, in
Vancouver, Canada, Chairman of the UN Global Compact
Myanmar Network, Advisor to the Union of Myanmar Fed-
eration of Commerce and Industries, Visiting professor at
Yangon University and Yangon University of Economics and
National Contact Point for the Organization for Economic
Co-operation and Development (OECD) Responsible Busi-
ness Conduct, Chief Coordinator of Union Enterprise of
Humanitarian Assistance, Resettlement and Development
in Rakhine (UEHRD) , Member of Myanmar Investment

Commission.

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet holds a Bachelor of Commerce
from Yangon University, a Post-Graduate Diploma in Man-
agement Studies from the University of Brighton, M.Sc. in
Operations Research from the University of Warwick and a
Ph.D. in Management Sciences from the University of
Manchester and a Post-doctoral Research Fellow from Uni-
versity of Marburg. He was awarded an Honorary Doctor-
ate D.Litt. Degree by the Yangon University of Economics in

2015.

PROF. DR. AUNG TUN THET
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Date of Appointment : 1 November 2014
Last Re-appointed : 30 March 2021
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U Aung Nyunt is an Independent Director of the Company.
He was appointed in October 2016. From 1966 to 2007,
nearly (41) years of services at Myanmar Timber Enterprise
— Finance/ Account Department, Planning Department
and retired as a General Manager (Planning). As an at-
tached duty in 1991, he served as a Director (Finance) for
two years at National Industrial Holding Company Limited
(NIHL) (Public Company). From 1995 to 1996, he was a part
time Director of Myanmar Forest Products Joint Venture
Company Limited (Forest J.V), Myanmar Korea Timber In-
ternational Company Limited (MKTI), Myanmar Seal Com-
pany Limited (M.S.L) and International Business Centre
(1.B.C) Co., Ltd. Starting from 2008 to 2013, he was an In-
dependent Auditor for the Union of Myanmar Federation
of Chambers of Commerce and Industry (UMFCCI), Myan-
mar Engineering Society (MES), NGO-Japan Seeds Asia Pro-
ject, Trustee Board of Pyi Shwe San Taw Pagoda and Inter-
national Business Centre Company Limited (I.B.C) under
the name of Aung Nyunt and Associates (Auditors). During
his service at the Ministry, he has joined and attended var-
jous Financial Management Seminars in (9) different coun-
tries. He attended the Audit Committee Master Programme
in April 2018 jointly sponsored by International Finance
Corporation and Myanmar Institute of Directors. He was
born in 1944 and studied at Myoma National High School.
He graduated with B.Com (Accounting) in 1964 and Regis-
tered Accountant (Full-fledge) (now CPA) in 1965 respec-
tively.

U AUNG NYUNT

Independent Director

Date of Appointment : 23 October 2016
Last Re-appointed : 30 March 2021
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U Toe Aung Myint is an Independent Director of the com-
pany. He served in Ministry of Mining in 1980 and served as
officer in Ministry of Defense from 1981 to 1985. From
1985 to 2018, he worked in Ministry of Commerce for
33years and retired as Permanent Secretary in August
2018. As an attached duty, from August 2016 to August
2018 he participated as Member of Myanmar Special Eco-
nomic Zone Central Working Body and served as Joint Sec-
retary in Myanmar Special Economic Zone Central Body. He
was Member of Myanmar Investment Commission from
2016 to January 2021. He is Chairman of Board of Director

in Myanmar Citizens Bank since 2013 to until now.

He was born in 1958 and graduated with Bachelor of Sci-
ence in Geology from Rangoon Arts and Sciences Universi-
ty in 1979. He got Certificate of Administration Course from
Yangon Institute of Economic in 1987 and Certificate of Ex-
port Market Development Programme from Japan -Singa-
pore (AOIS/TDB) in 1999. He attended Mekong Institute in
Thailand and got Certificate of Enterprise Reform for the
GMS in 2002 and Certificate of Leadership for Competitive
Enterprise System in the GMS in 2004. He received Certifi-
cate of Global Supply Chain Policy for Senior Officer Course
from Temasek Foundation International in 2012, Diploma
in International Economic Relations and Development
(IERD) from Graduate School of Administration and Devel-
opment of Ministry of Planning, Finance and Industry in
2017 and Certificate of Temasek Foundation International
Governance and Public Administration Programme from

Civil Service College (Singapore) in 2017.

U TOE AUNG MYINT

Independent Director

Date of Appointment : 30 March 2021
Last Re-appointed : Not Applicable
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U Tun Lwin is a Director of the Company. He has been the
Chairman of MAGDPL since 2012, which is one of the big-
gest shareholders of our Company. MAGDPL is a public
company and is currently developing container and general
cargo handling International Terminal at plot number 29 of

the Thilawa Port Area, among other business operations.

He is the director of MAPCO and he is also the Director of
Myanmar Citizens Bank Limited. He is serving as the Vice
Chairman of National Resources Development Company

Limited too.

He is presently the Managing Director of Shwe Me Group
of Companies. He is the Chairman of SCG — Shwe Me Logis-
tics (Myanmar) Co., Ltd, Director of Betagro (Myanmar)

Co., Ltd and ICP Shwe Me Fertilizer Co., Ltd.

He is currently serving as the Chairman of Myanmar Pulses,
Beans and Sesame Seeds Merchants Association, the Exec-
utive Committee Member of UMFCCI and the Treasurer of

Myanmar-Japan Association.

The companies he is associating are currently exporting ag-
ricultural products, importing construction materials and
general cargo, providing logistics services, developing ter-
minal at Thilawa port area, growing teak plantations and
involving in other business sectors too. He attended the
Audit Committee Master Programme in April 2018 jointly
sponsored by International Finance Corporation and My-

anmar Institute of Directors.

U TUN LWIN

Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 8 July 2013
Last Re-elected : 24 June 2020
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U Thaung Han is a Director of the Company. He is the Board
member of New City Public Company Limited, which is one
of the founding shareholders of MTSH. He is Co-Founder
and Managing Director of CB Life Insurance Company
which was established in 2021. He is also Secretary of
Myanmar Insurance Association which was established in
October 2017 and Joint Secretary of Myanmar Pulses,

Beans & Sesame Seeds Merchant Association.

He is also the Managing Director of CB Securities Limited
and Management Committee Member of CB Bank. He was
in Agriculture Commodity Trading/ Export & Import before

he joined CB Financial group.

He graduated from Rangoon Institute of Technology in
1987 and achieved Master of Business Administration from

Jinan University Guanzhou, China in 2013.

U THAUNG HAN
Non - Executive Director
Date of Appointment : 29 June 2021
Last Re-elected : Not Applicable
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Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing is a Director of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Company Limited. He is one of Director in
Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited (MJTD) and
Thilawa Property Development Limited (TPD) as well. He is
currently Managing Director of the National Development
Company Group Limited (NDCG), which is one of the Princi-
pal Shareholders of our Company. NDCG is a Public Compa-
ny engaged primarily in the business of construction, trad-
ing and general services. He is a Director of Proven
Technology Industrial Co., Ltd (TOYO Battery). He is also the
Executive Director of SME-Development Bank which is es-
tablished to provide financial assistance to small and medi-
um enterprises (SME) in the country. He is Joint Secretary
of Myanmar Construction Entrepreneur Association. Dr.
Nyan Thit Hlaing graduated with a Bachelor of Medicine

from the University of Medicine (1) Yangon in 1995.

DR. NYAN THIT HLAING

Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 2 August 2013
Last Re-elected : 24 June 2020
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U Tin Maung Hlaing is a Director of the Company. He is
Executive Director of MAPCO, which is one of the founding
shareholders of our Company. MAPCO is a Public Company
formed to mobilize public savings and to foster broader
investment in agriculture and agro-based industries of
Myanmar. He served as an Executive Director in the
Myanmar Automobile Development Public Company
Limited that manufactures and distributes of motor
vehicles. He has also been working as a Managing Director
in Evergreen Autos Co., Ltd since the founding of the

company.

U Tin Maung Hlaing is also actively involved in Myanmar
Japan Association as Central Executive Committee member.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Physics from
the Yangon University in 1988. He attended the Audit
Committee Master Programme in April 2018 jointly
sponsored by International Finance Corporation and
Myanmar Institute of Directors. He is fluent in the Japanese

language.

U TIN MAUNG HLAING

Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 2 August 2013
Last Re-elected : 1 September 2019
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U Myint Zaw is the Managing Director of the Myanmar Thil-
awa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd (MTSH) and its subsidiary
company, Thilawa Property Development Limited (TPD). He
joined the company since founded in 2013. U Myint Zaw has
over 20 years of experience in the sales and marketing &
trading of commodity like agriculture products and palm
oil, manufacturing of automotive spare parts, hospitality
and services, construction and property development in-
dustry. He is a trading and investment veteran with back-
ground in the development of rental factory, condominium
project, hotel and auto parts manufacturing. His primary
responsibility is the new business development and sales
and marketing at MTSH. He is also responsible to set up the
new standard operation procedure (SOP), new company
rules and procurement policy together with Admin and HR
department matter and general affairs at MJTD. He is the
coordinator between Japanese and Myanmar Officers,
Shareholders, Directors and also between MJTD and TSMC

(Thilawa SEZ Management Committee).

U Myint Zaw qualifies with a Bachelor of Science (Chemis-
try) degree from Yangon University, Master of Business Ad-
ministration (MBA) from University of Thai Chamber of
Commerce, Diploma of Business Law (DBL) from Yangon
University and Myanmar Directorship Certification which is
a first DCP course in Myanmar designed by Myanmar Insti-
tute of Director (MloD) and Singapore Management Uni-

versity (SMU).
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U MYINT ZAW

Managing Director

Date of Appointment : 29 September 2018
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021
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U Thurane Aung is the Project Director of our Company and
Vice President of Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development
Limited (MJTD). His diversify experiences came from more
than 17 years of service in Dagon Group, which is one of
the leading conglomerates in Myanmar with diversified
businesses in sectors thatinclude property development
and construction, hospitality, timber, agriculture, com-
modity trading, plantation, retail and distribution, petrole-

um, automobile and food processing.

His primary responsibility in MTSH is to coordinate among
the stakeholders for the smooth running of existing busi-
ness as well as develop new opportunities and investment

within Thilawa SEZ and beyond.

He also contribute much of his time for the development of
the different business sectors he is in by joining the Execu-
tive Committee Member of Myanmar Construction Entre-
preneur Association (MCEA), Vice-President of Yangon Re-
gion Young Entrepreneur Association (YRYEA). He holds a
Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Business Information Manage-
ment & Finance, which he obtained from the University of
Westminster, United Kingdom in 2004. He is also a winner
of the esteemed title of “Asia's Most Admirable Young
Leaders” at the prestigious Asia Corporate Excellence &

Sustainability Awards (ACES) 2021.
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U THURANE AUNG
Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 1 September 2019
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021
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U Min Oo is a Director of the Company. He is the Board
member of Myanmar Technologies and Investment Corpo-
ration Public Company Limited (MTI), which is one of the
founding shareholders of MTSH. He is the Vice President of
Myanmar Computer Professionals Association and Presi-
dent of Myanmar Business Executives Association. He also
serves as the Executive Committee member of Myanmar
Computer Federation. He graduated with a Master of Com-
puter Science from Yangon Computer University in 1999
and achieved Master of Business Administration from Yan-
gon Institute of Economic in 2005. He holds Post Graduate
Diploma in Law, Diploma in Political Science and enhanced

Diplomatic Skill from Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

U MIN OO
Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 1 September 2019
Last Re-elected : Not Applicable
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Daw Aye Aye Aung is a Director of the Company. She is the
Managing Director of Asia Mega Link Co., Ltd. She is the
Director of Asia Mega Link Services Co., Ltd and Yatanarpon
Teleport Public Co., Ltd as well. She is also a Central Execu-
tive Committee Member of Yangon International Airport
Information Technology Communication Center and the
Director of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Limited (MAEX).
She graduated with a B.E (Electronic) and also a profession-
al Engineer (P.E) recognized by the Myanmar Engineering
Council. She was awarded the ASEAN Engineer Certificate
of AFEO Governing Board in 2014. She achieved the Master
of Business Administration from Yangon Institute of Econom-

icin 2002.

DAW AYE AYE AUNG

Non-Executive Director

Date of Appointment : 1 September 2019
Last Re-elected : 30 March 2021
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U MYINT ZAW

Managing Director

The profile of U Myint Zaw is on page no
(19). Please refer to the Page for the
detail.
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U THURANE AUNG

Project Director

The profile of U Thurane Aung is on
page no (20). Please refer to the Page
for the detail.
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Daw Yu War Tun is the Head of Finance of Myanmar Thila-

wa SEZ Holding Public Company Limited and con-currently
the Chief Financial Officer of Myanmar Japan Thilawa De-

velopment Limited.

Daw Yu War Tun has over 15 years of experience in Ac-
counting, Auditing, Financial Reporting and analysis, Taxa-

tion and Internal Controls.

She has been working in Myanmar from 2005 to 2010 and
subsequently moved to Singapore, and gained experience
in Singapore registered companies, including in the CMG
Group (Singapore) Pte Ltd. which is 100% subsidiaries of
the Interpublic Group of Companies (a company listed on
New York Stock Exchange). And then she joined MTSH in

December 2017 as Group Finance Manager.

Daw Yu War Tun holds Bachelor of Science degree in ap-
plied accounting from Oxford Brookes University (UK) and
member of Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountant
(ISCA). She is also admitted Chartered Certified Accountant
(ACCA) and Certified Public Accountant of Myanmar.

DAW YU WAR TUN
Head of Finance
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U Tin Myo Naing is the General Manager of Administration
& Human Resources, of this company and is the General
Manager of Human Resources and Management at our
joint venture, MJTD. He is responsible for human resource
management; Systematic implementation of office pro-
cesses; management of procurement and transforming

management practice to the digitalization process.

U Tin Myo Naing has more than 15 years of experience in
human resources and administration management. From
2009 to 2016, he was as Sr. Manager for Barons Group of
Companies, from 2016 to 2018, he was the Head of Admin-
istration & Facilities at Asia Beverages Co., Ltd and from
2018 to 2020, KBZ Bank Ltd, he also served as the Head of

Shared Services.

U Tin Myo Naing holds a BA (Economics) degree in Eco-
nomics from the Yangon University of Distance Education
and currently working on an MBA Thesis from Lincoln Uni-
versity College, Malaysia. He has attended management
courses of domestic and overseas training. He is also a Sen-
ior Certified Professional in Administration and Certified
Professional Management Trainer of the Chartered Associ-
ation of Business Administration (USA). And as a part-time

instructor at PSM International College.

UTIN MYO NAING
General Manager of Admin &
Human Resources
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Corporate Governance Mission

1. To realize the achievement of corpo-
rate sustainability through govern-
ance based upon the principles of
transparency, accountability, respon-
sibility, independence and fairness.

2. To realize the empowerment of the
function and independence of each
corporate body: the general share-
holder’s meeting, the Board of Direc-
tors and the executive management.

3. To realize a condition in which all
corporate bodies make their

decisions and implement them on the

basis of high moral values and adher-

ence to existing laws and regulations.
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Corporate Governance Goals

1. To improve our Company’s perfor-

JII

. To improve corporate value by

mance through the creation of
decision-making processes, improv-

ing operational efficiency and impro-

ving services to stakeholders.

improving financial perfor-
mance and minimizing
investment  decision
risks that contains
conflicts of inter-
est.

To improve
investor

trust.

4.  To achieve
stakeholder satis-
faction resulting
from corporate values

and company dividends.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ROADMAP & IMPLEMENTATION

As Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings
Public Co., Ltd. (MTSH) is a public-
ly listed company, it is committed
to build good corporate govern-
ance on the foundations of ac-
countability, fairness and trans-
parency. To be a sustainable and
responsible business. MTSH has
made a great effort to promote
the long-term benefits for share-
holders and have public trust by
shaping up well in our manage-
ment and performance of our
company. Accordingly, the board
of directors and key management
set standard of operating proce-
dure (SOP) and the norms of in-
tegrity and ethical behavior, which
will be applied in the respective
tasks of employees and officers. In
addition, the Board of Directors
has fully responsibility to serve as
a prudent fiduciary for sharehold-
ers through the best practice in

good corporate governance.

In Annual General meeting, the
shareholders elect and designate
the Board members year on year
with the aim of overseeing their
interest in the long-term success
of the business. Afterward, the
Board serves as the ultimate deci-
sion-making body of the compa-
ny, with the exception of the mat-
ters that is concerned with

Shareholders' decision. The Board

chooses the most suitable members of senior manage-
ment who will operate and implement the business plans

according to the Board of Directors' guidelines.

The Board of Directors has established Corporate Govern-
ance Guidelines which provide a framework for the effec-
tive governance of the Company. The guidelines address
matters such as the Board's mission, Director responsibili-
ties, Director qualifications, Board Committee structure,
Managing Director performance evaluation and manage-

ment succession.

As one more significant step towards a sustainable and re-
sponsible business, MTSH has participated into the United
Nations Global Compact and has become one of the mem-
bers of it since June, 2015. Since then, MTSH has complied
with ten principles in the four main areas of Human Rights,
Labor Rights, Environmental Rights and Anti-Corruption
guided by the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), and
then those principles are well integrated into our business

strategy, culture and daily operations.

In line with our aim, “to deliver a long-term and sustainable
benefit to all shareholders, employees and community”,
the Board frequently reviews and updates the related
guidelines in order to achieve strong corporate governance

of the Company.

We have benchmarked our score against average score of
listed companies by using ASEAN Corporate Governance
Scorecard, private and public companies and ASEAN aver-
age available from an assessment jointly published by In-
ternational Finance Corporation (IFC), Securities and Ex-
change Commission of Myanmar (SECM), Directorate of
Investment and Company Administration (DICA) and Yan-
gon Stock Exchange (YSX). Even though our score fare bet-
ter than Myanmar average, we acknowledge there are po-
tentials to improve our corporate governance practices to

catch up with ASEAN average.
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The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman
(an Independent Director of the Board) and a
minimum of 2 other members. The Nomination

Committee currently consists of 3 members.

The purpose of the Nomination Committee is to
consist the Board in ensuring that it maintains the
appropriate balance of skills, knowledge and
diversity to support the Company’s strategic objec-
tives, and that a clear and transparent appointment
process for directors is in place. The principal

responsibilities of the Committee are to;

(A) Review the size, structure and composition
of the Board, including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of Board Members and

make recommendation accordingly;

(B) Identify and nominate candidates for
appointment to the Board, based on merit and

against objective criteria;

Q) Make recommendations to the membership
of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees in consultation with the chairmen of

those committees; and

(D) Develop and periodically review, any
objectives established for the implementation of
diversity on the Board and minority progress

toward the achievements of those objectives.
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The Remuneration Committee supports the

Board of Directors in establishing and
periodically reviewing MTSH’s compensation
strategy, guidelines and performance criteria
as well as preparing the proposals to the
General Meeting regarding the compensation
of the members of the Board of Director and of

Key Management personnel.

The Remuneration Committee consists of
the Chairman (an Independent Director of
the Board) and a minimum of 3 other
members. The Remuneration Committee
currently consists of 4 members including

the committee chairman.

The success of MTSH is dependent on its
ability to attract, retain and incentivize the
right talented employees. MTSH employee
remuneration comprises of fixed and
variable components, with the variable
components directly correlated with Key
Performance Indicators aligned with the

Company’s Business Plan.

IoSom 2§.084pisé 380n03ean 3ges0d
qpisacgod  maocfogiegafepgdlagp:  fodeo
canbaodabqpisé  glrocontapbom:  s03fgcd
qFoR0p 2005e0bapsé adfsborbelyipd aprood
g Bapboopbypiot svecgecgaaepbiascorgpiogé
waflg§baamcged  socfogiegenrbuodarg
dloSox9g,54 safoifgootigepSigbdlooghs

60x5008p005af§BgoBcoBe0m  A§0Bomss:
3¢ pphiopiegof (9) Bdifepd seocloieg
coocBasgh conSfiopbang.of (g) Bl §.opb:

co:Cloogdi

65 6p 30§ 33[g20 03] G203 Eangpiiop g Egpisa:
comEsggonoopdmmodonglymeo]  gpeg
o§oofglielopt opgBel eanEfg€qad 88w

322:6078:60300051

0§ codsgpsell comdeniglypiodaopds deoodonigl
g€ 00dB:qC:Bel gieantapdsl  apgaBei
Bigmreqpaadandgpizned sacomEaacopbesd§tyq

qped goode) 2a3EgC[aCqpsden§tas Bod
002:§Aloobi



2020-2021 31
ANNUAL REPORT

AUDIT, RISK &
COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
(ARCC)

MANAGEMENT & BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
(MBDC)

Chairman — U Aung Nyunt
(Independent Director)
Members — U Tin Maung Hlaing, U Min Qo

The Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee consist of the
Chairman (an Independent Director of the Board) and a
minimum of 2 other members. The ARCC currently consists

of 3 members.

At least member has to have recent and relevant financial
expertise; the other must be familiar with the issues of
accounting and audit. In discharging its responsibilities, it
has unrestricted access to the Company’s management,
books and records. The ARCC supports the Board of
Directors in its supervision of financial controls through a
direct link to Win Thin & Associates (external auditors) and

the internal audit department.

The ARCC regularly reports to the Board on its findings and
proposes appropriate actions. The responsibility for
and Semi-Annual Financial

approving the Annual

Statements remains with the Board of Directors.
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Chairman - U Thurane Aung (Executive Director)
Members - Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing,
U Min Oo, Daw Aye Aye Aung

The Management & Business Development Committee
(MBDC) currently consist of 4 members and U Thurane
Aung (Executive Director) has been acting as the Chairman

with a minimum of 3 other members in this Committee.

This Committee has senior management oversight of the
planning and strategy, financial and business, and

infrastructure operations of the Company.

Furthermore, the committee shall seek and evaluate for
new business development opportunities and propose
Board of Directors for investment decision for long term

growth of the Company.

In this committee, the members contribute with the best
of their local & international knowledge and experiences to
guide and direct the activities of MTSH as well as ensuring
the effective management and new business activities and

project.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS'INTEREST IN SHARES

Directors shareholdings comparing between record date 30.9.2021 and 4.2.2022 are as below :

Holdings Registered in name

of Director as at

Holdings in which Director is

deemed to have an interest as at

Sr. Name
30.9.2021 4.2.2022 30.9.2021 4.2.2022

1. |U Win Aung 256,340 256,340 2,029,046 2,029,046
2. |U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun - - 643,503 643,503
3. |Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet - - - -
4. |U Aung Nyunt - - - -

5. [U Toe Aung Myint - - - -

6. |UTun Lwin 523,850 523,850 1,921,010 1,921,010
7. |UThaung Han - - 2,206,990 2,206,990
8. |Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing - - 1,149,122 1,149,122
9. |U Tin Maung Hlaing 10,100 10,100 - -
10. |U Myint Zaw 11,210 11,210 1,900,000 1,900,000
11. |U Thurane Aung 493,540 493,540 143,150 143,150
12. |U Min Oo - - 1,592,101 1,592,101
13 . |Daw Aye Aye Aung - - 1,513,583 1,513,583

Executive Officer shareholdings comparing between record date 30.9.2021 and 4.2.2022 are as below :

Sr.

Name

Holdings Registered in name

of Executive Officer as at

Holdings in which Executive Officer is

deemed to have an interest as at

30.9.2021 4.2.2022

30.9.2021

4.2.2022

U Tin Myo Naing

Daw Yu War Tun
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, SENIOR
Kyat in Million
In capacity as In capacity as director Total
BOARD OF DIRECTORS management Honorarium FY 2020-21 Proposed remunerationin
Salary Bonus all capacity
1 U Win Aung Chairman - MTSH, MJTD & TPD NED - 8.50 8.50
2 U Theim Wai Vice Chairman - MTSH & TPD NED - 7.65 7.65
3 Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet Independent Director - MTSH NED - 24.00 6.80 30.80
4 U Tin Htut Oo Independent Director - MTSH NED - 10.00 3.40 13.40
5 U Aung Nyunt Independent Director - MTSH NED - 24.00 6.80 30.80
6 UToe Aung Myint Independent Director - MTSH NED 12.00 3.40 15.40
7 U Tun Lwin Director - MTSH & TPD NED - 7.65 7.65
8 U Thaung Han Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD NED 6.80 6.80
9 Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD NED - 6.80 6.80
10 U Tin Maung Hlaing Director - MTSH & TPD NED - 6.80 6.80
11 U Myint Zaw Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD ED - 6.80 6.80
12 U Thurane Aung Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD ED - 6.80 6.80
13 U Min Oo Director - MTSH & TPD NED - 6.80 6.80
14 Daw Aye Aye Aung Director - MTSH, MJTD & TPD NED 6.80 6.80
SUBTOTAL 70.00 91.76 161.76
Executive Directors for Management Role Salary Honorarium Bonus Total
1 U Myint Zaw Managing Director - MTSH & TPD (Oct 196.03 14.19 210.22
2020 - Sep 2021)
2 U Thurane Aung VP - MJTD, Project Director - MTSH & 75.38 10.69 86.07
TPD (Oct 2020 - Sep 2021)
SUBTOTAL 271.41 0.00 24.88 296.29
Senior Management Salary Honorarium Bonus Total
1 Daw Yu War Tun Head of Finance - MTSH, CFO - MJTD 69.98 6.68 76.66
(Oct 2020- Sep 2021)
2 U Tin Myo Naing GM of Admin & HR - MTSH &TPD, 52.71 4.00 56.71
Admin & HR Officer - MJTD (Oct 2020-
Sep 2021)
SUBTOTAL 122.69 10.68 133.37
Compliance Officer Salary Honorarium Bonus Total
1 U Win Thinn Compliance Officer(Oct 2020- Sep 12.00 12.00
2021)
SUBTOTAL 12.00 12.00
GRAND TOTAL 406.10 70.00 127.33 603.43

Legend:

VP - Vice-President, NED - Non-Executive Director, ED - Executive Director, CEO - Chief Executive Officer, CFO - Chief Financial
Officer, Admin & HR Officer, GM - General Manager



BOARD MEETINGS

Our Board and Board Committees have held the meetings to assess and evaluate Company’s business performance, key activities
and strategic policies. The company has held the meetings in 1st October 2020 to 30th September 2021 are as follows:
E

9 .0 14 )2

TIMES TIME | TIME TIMES | TIMES

Nominati R . Audit. Risk and Management &
MTSH BOD . o.mmalslon . o en}uner;/t[mn‘ 1(1: it, ll.S an Business
Meeting ommittee Meeting | Committee Meeting ompliance Development

Committee Meeting Committee Meeting
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Board Meeting AGM
Director 4/2020-2021 | 5/2020-2021 | 6/2020-2021 |7/2020-2021( 8/2020-2021 (1/2021-2022| 2/2021-2022 3/2021-2022 | 4/2021-2022 | 8th AGM
(7.10.20) | (24.12.20) | (20.1.21) (8.3.21) (26.3.21) | (30.3.21) (26.4.21) (29.6.21) (29.9.21) (30.3.21)
U Win Aung v v v v v v v v v v
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
(or his Alternate Director, v v v v v v v v v v
U Tun Tun)
'U Khin Maung Aye (or his
Alternate Director, v v v v v v v v R
U Thaung Han)
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet v v v v v v v v v v
?U Tin Htut Oo v v - - - -
U Aung Nyunt v v v v v v v v v v
*U Toe Aung Myint - - - v v v v v
U Tun Lwin v v v v v v v v v v
U Thaung Han - - - - - - - v v
Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing v v v v v v v v v v
U Tin Maung Hlaing v v v v v v v v v v
U Myint Zaw v v v v v v v v v v
U Thurane Aung v v 4 v v v v v v v
U Min Oo ' v 4 v v v v v v v
Daw Aye Aye Aung v v v v v v v v v v

2U Tin Htut Oo, Independent Director of the Company retired his role with effective from 4 February 2021.
* U Toe Aung Myint, Independent Director of the Company was appointed with effective from 30 March 2021.
4U Thaung Han, Director of the Company was appointed in the place of * U Khin Maung Aye, Vice Chairman with effective from 29 June 2021.
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Nomination Committee

Sr. Director Designation Meeting Date
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet Chairman There is no meeting during reported financial year.
U Tun Lwin Member There is no meeting during reported financial year.
U Thurane Aung Member There is no meeting during reported financial year.
Remuneration Committee
) ) ) 3/2020-2021
Sr. Director Designation (24.12.2020)
1. |[*UTinHtut Oo Chairman v
2 2U Toe Aung Myint Chairman .
3 Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing Member 4
4. U Thaung Han Member -
5 Daw Aye Aye Aung Member v

1U Tin Htut Oo,Independent Director of the Company retired his role with effective from 4 February 2021.
2 U Toe Aung Myint, Independent Director of the Company was appointed with effective from 30 March 2021.

Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee

Sr Director Designation 2/2020-2021 1/2021-2022 | 2/2021-2022 | 3/2021-2022
(13.10.2020) | (3.5.2021) | (28.5.2021) | (29.6.2021)
U Aung Nyunt Chairman v v v v
2. |U Tin Maung Hlaing Member v v - v
U Min Oo Member v 4 4 v

Management & Business Development Committee

Sr. Director Designation 1/2021-2022 2/2021-2022
(14.5.2021) (28.5.2021)
1. |UThurane Aung Chairman v v
2. |Dr. Nyan Thit Hlaing Member v -
3. |UMinOo Member v v
4. |[Daw Aye Aye Aung Member v v
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HOLDING OF 8™ ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
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On 30™ March 2021, 8th Annual General Meeting of Myan-
mar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd (MTSH) was held
online-based event. Due to the Covid-19 Global Pandemic,
AGM event was held virtually via ZOOM Webinar platform
instead of regular physical annual meeting which almost

3,000 attendees were recorded every year.

In the meeting, U Win Aung, Chairman of MTSH stated the
significant progress of the company, its financial data, fu-
ture potential business projects for MTSH and the success
of Thilawa Special Economic Zone in Myanmar. As the fol-
lowing agenda, U Myint Zaw, one of the BOD members re-
ported to the shareholders on the Company's F2019-2020
Financial Report and Directors’ Report to be approved. In
the 8th Annual General Meeting, shareholders approved
the meeting resolutions of (1) to approve Company’s FY
2019-2020 Financial Statements and Directors’ Report,
(2) to announce the dividend payment that was proposed
by the Company for FY 2019-2020, (3) to appoint (i) the
elected directors in the election: U Theim Wai, U Myint Zaw,
U Thurane Aung, Daw Aye Aye Aung (ii) to appoint the in-
cumbent Independent Directors: Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet,
U Aung Nyunt and U Toe Aung Myint, (4) to re-appoint Win
Thin and Associates as external auditor for FY 2021-2022
and (5) to get approval of rewarding 1% of net profit of FY

2019-2020 as BOD Bonus to members of the Board.

The event was held successfully with the shareholders of

39% shareholding registered for their voting rights.
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(FY 2020-2021)

Revenue, Share of Profit from Associate And Net Profit
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SUSTAINBILITY & SDGs REPORT
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MTSH, our associate and subsidiary companies have been working diligently in areas of sustainability since inceptions. Our
leaders are some of the largest supporters of philanthropic causes and our company has led the industry in good corporate

governance and ethics practices for some time.

Our biggest opportunity lies in taking a strong position in support of environmental sustainability. Recent studies have
shown that buildings account for as much as 40% of the earth's greenhouse gas emissions, which are believed to contribute
to climate change. As a leading real estate services firm in Myanmar, our ability to influence how real estate is built,

sourced, occupied, and sold, is unsurpassed.

Climate change is a significant risk for Myanmar; extreme weather may impact our operations. We believe we can make a
tangible impact on our environment by improving energy efficiency, reducing greenhouse gas emissions. We will work with

our tenants and business partners to make greener environment, and contribute to the fight against climate change.

MTSH recognizes the value of aligning with the international standards for sustainable and responsible business practices.
MTSH is a member of the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) since 2015. The UNGC was initiated in 2,000 to promote
global corporate responsibility with 10 guiding principles. We support the Sustainable Development Goals (‘SDGs’), adopted
in 2015, a plan to tackle the world’s most pressing social, economic and environmental challenges. SDGs cover 17 topics and
propose appropriate targets for 2030. We are also dedicated to complying with the United Nations Universal Declaration of

Human Rights.

MTSH is commitments to the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals,
and strive to improve the integration principles into our culture, strategy and operations as an ongoing commitment to

being a responsible business.
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GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

M 5| SDG GOAL 3. GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

o Social welfare, Health and Environmental Support (Nutrition program, Kahtina robe offering, Myanmar New Year
Festival, Health awareness program, Hygiene and sanitation program, Free health check program, Drug abuse

awareness program, Clinical equipment donation, Trash collection activity, Schools sport program, Thilawa Community

Run event)

. Fair compensation, training support, safe working environment, subsidy of medical cost

o Assisting the Covid-19 Vaccination program of TSEZ workers 11,009 employees and their family members of
645 people

o Employee support initiatives during WFH and lockdown during Covid-19 outbreak

. Blood donation activity
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QUALITY
EDUCATION

|!!|l SDG GOAL 4. QUALITY EDUCATION

o Supporting land compensation, resettlement, Income Restoration Program, Vulnerable Support Program, Vocational
Training Program
o Education support (Free English class, Stationery Donation “4™ Back to school program” for 2,700 students, Furniture

& computers donation to schools, Scholarship for Primary, Secondary and University Students)

o Infrastructure support (Library, School building and Road construction, Drainage repair in villages)
o Fair compensation, training support, safe working environment, subsidy of medical cost

o Participate in various seminars, workshop and events organized by YSX and Securities Companies
o Support data to researchers working for master degree thesis

o Internship program for students from Technical University
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GENDER
EQUALITY

SDG GOAL 5. GENDER EQUALITY

o Equal employment opportunity and gender equality in hiring, training and promotion
o Committed equal employment opportunity, gender equality

o 1 Woman on our Board of Directors of 13

o 1 out of 4 Senior Management is a woman.

o More than 45 % of middle management are women.
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CLEAN WATER
AND SANITATION

E SDG GOAL 6. CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION

o Treatment of used water before discharge into creek.
o Wastewater to be properly discharged into the environment.
o Sewage treatment plant with daily capacity of 4,800 m? treats consumed water before discharging.
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SDG GOAL-7. AFFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY

o Electricity support to monastery in the vicinity of Thilawa SEZ
o We deploy programs to improve energy efficiency in all our activites.
o Replacement of energy saving lights and bulbs.
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DECENT WORK AND

ECONOMIC GROWTH SDG GOAL _ 8.
DECENT WORK AND ECONOMIC GROWTH

o

o Conduct our purchasing activities in a fair, honest and legal manner with openness and integrity.

o Award contracts on the basis of value for money, not simply lowest price

o Prompt payment and making complaints courteously

o Ensure that all tenderers have equal access to information

o Work with local business and voluntary sector support organizations to promote the opportunities to work with us.

o Contributing to Myanmar Economy and country GDP through attracting FDI and Job creation in Thilawa region (114

tenants from 21 countries, investment totaling USD 1.86 billion and over 12,580 jobs created)
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INDUSTRY, INNOVATION

¢ SDGGOAL - 9.
& INDUSTRY, INNOVATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE

. Brought in industrial waste treatment operator to Thilawa SEZ.
. Retention canals and ponds for flood control in Thilawa SEZ

o Water purification plant in Thilawa SEZ

o Online weather monitoring system
o Online automated invoicing system
. Infrastructure support (Library, School building and Road construction, Drainage repair in Villages.
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2020-2021

1 REDUCED
INEQUALITIES

SDG GOAL - 10 REDUCED INEQUALITIES

o Conduct our purchasing activities in a fair, honest and legal manner with openness and integrity.

o Award contracts on the basis of value for money, not simply lowest price

o Prompt payment and making complaints courteously

o Work with local business and voluntary sector support organizations to promote the opportunities to work with us

o Supporting land compensation, resettlement, Income Restoration Program, Vulnerable Support Program, Vocational

Training Program
o Contribute to government with timely and correct payment of income tax, commercial tax, tax withhold from supplier
and employee

o Paid Kyat 41 million net commercial tax to Internal Revenue Department in FY 2020-2021
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1 1 SUSTAINABLE CITIES

AND COMMUNITIES SD G GO AL _ 1 1 .
ﬁﬁéﬁ SUSTAINABLE CITIES AND COMMUNITIES

o Infrastructure support (Library, School building and Road construction, Drainage repair in villages)
o Creating green space, planted over 10,000 trees and 3,000 shrubs & bushes in Residential and Commercial areas
o Responsible use of water only from reservoir, not from aquifer
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ANNUAL REPORT

13 forov

@ SDG GOAL - 13. CLIMATE ACTION

. Brought in industrial waste treatment operator to Thilawa SEZ

o Retention canals and ponds for flood control in Thilawa SEZ

o Responsible use of water only from Zarmani water reservoir, not withdraw from the underground aquifer

o Established a total of 42 ha of green space in Industrial Park Zone A and Zone B

. Online weather monitoring system

. Regularly monitoring environment in Thilawa SEZ covering, water and waste water quality, air quality, noise vibration,

soil contamination, waste disposal, and ground water quality
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-8 SDG GOAL - 16.
B PEACE, JUSTICE AND STRONG INSTITUTIONS

>,

. Meeting and providing information to equity analysts from Securities Companies for equity research report enable

J Directors’ attendance of The Audit Committee Master Program and Director Certification Program conducted by
Myanmar Institute of Directors (MloD)

. Appointment of independent invigilator for AGM voting process

. Engage through timely disclosure in YSX, Corporate websites and Facebook page to Ensure all shareholders have

equal access to information

. Ranked 8™ in PwintThit Sa 2020 Transparency in Myanmar Enterprises Report

o Publication of FY2020- 2021 Annual Report

i Quickly resolve all enquiries, complaints and concerns raised by tenants within 14 days

. Regularly conduct Thilawa Community Coordination Meeting

. Public consultation of project before commencement

J Thilawa Complaint Management procedure (TCMP) to receive, investigate and facilitate resolution of grievance

caused by Thilawa SEZ activities
. Contribute to government with timely and correct payment of income tax, commercial tax, tax withhold from supplier

and employee

. Continue support of anti-corruption through UN Global Compact
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1 PARTNERSHIPS

FORTHE GOALS

SDG GOAL - 17. PARTNERSHIPS FOR THE (GOALS

o Maintain good relationship with founding shareholders

o Maintaining good relationship with our locators of 114 tenants from 21 countries, who investing in TSEZ
o Received visit of government delegation from General Administration Department to Thilawa SEZ

o Received the visit of State Counsellor, Vice President, Union Ministers and States/Regional Ministers

o Participate in various seminars, workshop and events organized by YSX and Securities Companies
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CSR ACTIVITIES

OR COVID'1 9 Ero

:rILAWAPROPERTY DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

The effect that Covid-19 pandemic caused on our social and pro- °3$‘11|g|§l,§(ﬁ

fessional life which started in the beginning of 2020 continued COVID-19 ché]iﬁ%quﬁﬂmg(fqucrrﬁ\ "
until the end of 2021. Since the breakout of pandemic, MTSH §a ! = :0$u)5:o.}: N-95 MASK g T/
has been prioritizing and supporting the healthiness and safety ; ) combopdffe: ; :)‘

of its employees. When it became a long way effects of the
pandemic, MTSH hasn’t slowed down in facilitating the health-

care for public and its staffs.

On 29™ December 2020, we donated N-95 masks of approxi-
mate value 500,000 Kyats to Thanlyin Committee of Covid-19

Control and Prevention.

MTSH also donated 500,000 Kyats to Kyauk Tan Social Welfare

Association for oxygen cylinder and supplies.

We were also able to provide 170 cylinders of Oxygen to the

COVID-19 patients living in Thanlyin and Kyauk Tan townships.

During the third wave of pandemic, with the guidance of man-
agement and cooperation of employees, MTSH timely provided
necessary oxygen supplies and medicines to the families of em-

ployees.
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.ZOVID— 19 VVaccination

Employees for us are not only the pillars for sustainable and
longstanding success of the organization but also taxpaying citi-
zens whose efforts make an impact in the growth of national

economy through the operations of the company.

We believe that taking good care of our employees benefits not
just the company, it also contributes in part to the well-functioning

of the community.

In 2021, during the COVID-19 Third Wave, Myanmar, like the rest
of the world, experienced the loss of many lives due to the highly

contagious pneumonia.

In an effort to protect its employees, MTSH administered
COVID-19 vaccinations to MTSH and TPD staffs as well as to their

families, and vaccinated a total of 296 people.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

We have always taken part in Investor Relations activities such as seminars and discussions aiming to
provide information about the activities and operations of our Company, to take the initiative of reaching
out to our investors and be accessible to our inquiries. MTSH cares not only about the interests of its
shareholders, but also about their well-being. The company participated in the panel discussion on the
Subject of “Insight talk with YSX Listed Companies”, our Managing Director U Myint Zaw joined in the
discussion which was organized by Yangon Stock Exchange and shared Future prospects of the company

and current projects for local and foreign investors.
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YSX Stock Investment Virtual Series “Insight Talks with YSX Listed Companies(MTSH)"
YANGON

U Myint Zaw

Managing Director
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd.




2020-2021
ANNUAL REPORT

MAJOR BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As of 4™ February 2022, the following are our 20 major beneficial shareholders.

Certificate of
No. Name incorporation/number No. of %
of certificate of Shares
citizenship

1 |Eden Group Co., Ltd 118339002 1,948,640 5.01

2 |New City Development Public Co., Ltd 114530247 1,900,000 4.88

3 [Myanma Agricultural & General Development Public Co., Ltd 168982240 1,900,000 4.88

4 |Myanmar Edible Oil Industrial Public Co., Ltd 115632523 1,797,000 4.62

5 [Golden Land East Asia Development Public Co., Ltd 115075667 1,771,546 4.55

6 |Myanmar Technologies and Investment Corporation Public Co., Ltd 117380068 1,592,101 4.09

7 [National Development Company Group Public Co., Ltd 196167323 1,149,122 2.95

8 |Asia Mega Link Co., Ltd* 104307876 994,924 2.56

9 |First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd 121398001 643,503 1.65
10 |U Naing Moe 12/LaMaTa(N)011754 537,980 1.38
11 |U Tun Lwin 12/LaMaTa(N)013763 523,850 1.35
12 |U Thurane Aung 12/KaMaYa(N)050839 493,540 1.27
13 [Daw Ei Hnin Pwint 12/KaMaYa(N)050838 412,040 1.06
14 |Great Bell Logistic & Services Co., Ltd** 101054004 291,349 0.75
15 |U Kyaw Zaw Thant 12/LaMaTa(N)034764 277,220 0.71
16 [Daw Moe Mya Mya 12/KaMaYa(N)045039 257,500 0.66
17 |U Win Aung 12/KaMaYa(N)008220 256,340 0.66
18 |Asia World Industries Limited*** 105925921 249,847 0.64
19 [Daw Ei Hnin Khine 12/KaMaYa(N)050840 236,830 0.61
20 |Asia Mega Link Services Co., Ltd 106127433 227,310 0.58

* Out of which 314,806 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.

** Qut of which 101,000 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.

**% Out of which 152,000 shares are being pledged to CB Bank Ltd.
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SHAREHOLDING STATISTICS

We set out below our Company's Shareholder Statistics as at 4.2.2022

Range of Shares No of shareholders Percent (%) Number of shares Percent (%)
1-1000 14,077 81.56% 3,975,936 10.21%
1001-2000 1,039 6.02% 1,700,394 4.37%
2001-3000 540 3.13% 1,446,702 3.72%
3001-4000 177 1.03% 625,227 1.61%
4001-5000 402 2.33% 1,972,364 5.07%
5001-6000 628 3.64% 3,317,446 8.52%
6001-7000 77 0.45% 504,409 1.30%
7001-8000 47 0.27% 351,942 0.90%
8001-9000 28 0.16% 239,999 0.62%
9001-10000 25 0.14% 241,108 0.62%
10001-100000 183 1.06% 4,404,058 11.31%
100001-1000000 29 0.17% 8,091,156 20.78%
1000001 and above 7 0.04% 12,058,409 30.98%
Total 17,259 100% 38,929,150 100%
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DIVIDEND

A final dividend of Ks. 100 per ordinary share for every share has been proposed as per a resolution made at the Board of
Directors’ meeting of the company held on 20th December 2021. The proposed dividend shall be paid from the company

unrestricted retained profits to the shareholders who are shareholders at record date as of 4 February 2022.
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TIMELY & CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

We are in compliance with YSX’s Disclosure Outline and Requirements which were set up to build public confidence in the
fairness and soundness of the Stock Trading and our best efforts have been put in disclosing our company corporate
information to the public and investors for them to make informed investment decisions without delay. Our company’s
corporate information is promptly disclosed on YSX’s website and our company’s website. Our Company’s financial
statements and annual reports can be accessed on both websites mentioned above. We have made the following statutory

and voluntary disclosures at YSX from 15t Oct 2020 to 30™ September 2021.
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30th Dec. 2020 Notice of Financial Results for Financial Year 2019-2020

30th Dec. 2020 Management Discussion and Analysis

Notice of Proposed Dividend for Financial Year 2019-2020, Record Date and Ex-

21st Jan. 2021 Brviclane B

15! Mar. 2021 Annual Report (FY2019-2020)

15t Mar. 2021 Invitation of 8" Annual General Meeting

Resolutions passed at the 8th Annual General Meeting held on 30th March,

nd .
2" April. 2021 5021

30" Jun. 2021 Interim Results- Management Discussion & Analysis

Interim Consolidated Financial Statements for six months ended March 31,

th
30™ Jun. 2021 5021
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Effective risk management is a key foundation of delivering
our strategy and integral to the achievement of our objective
of creating value for stakeholders. Our risk management
framework comprises risk governance, risk assessment,

risk response and monitoring and reporting.

Risk management is the process of identifying, measuring
and treating property, liability, income, and personnel ex-
posures to loss. The ultimate goal of risk management is
the preservation of the physical and human assets of the
organization for the successful continuation of its opera-

tions.

In our risk governance structure, the Board (as assisted by
the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee) is responsible for
overall risk management of the company. The Audit, Risk &
Compliance Committee takes responsibility for overseeing
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems on behalf of the Board, and senior management is

tasks with implementing the system.

We have adopted the three lines of defense approach to
allow effective oversights of risk management process by

Board.

In first line of defense, day-to-day management of risk is
embedded within operational management. Head of busi-
ness units and departments ensure that daily operations
are in compliance with established policies, standard oper-

ation procedures (SOPs), guideline and regulation.

Risk management functions serve as second line of defense
by establishing and implementing risk management frame-
work. Risk management business assists business units and
departments in risk management process, reviewing risk
management framework for improvement, and reporting
to senior management and the Audit, Risk & Compliance

Committee.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Internal audit acts as third defense line by providing assur-
ance to the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee on the
effectiveness of risk management, controls and govern-
ance practice. Key findings and internal auditor’s recom-
mendations for improvement are regularly reported to the

Board through the Audit Risk & Compliance Committee.

Risk management function is responsible for effective
implementation and review of our risk management
framework, while ultimate responsibility for oversight of

risk management rests with the Board.

Risk appetite defined the amount of risk we are willing to
tolerate in pursuit of our strategy and objective and we
have identified tolerance level for each of the principal
risks. It promotes consistent, ‘risk-informed’ decision-making
process and it also supports robust corporate governance

by setting clear risk taking boundaries.

In our risk assessment process, risk registers are used to
document the risks identified, level of severity and proba-
bility, ownership and mitigation measures for each risk. We
have identified three major risks that may have negative
impact on executing our strategy and achieving our busi-

ness objective.

- Strategic risk
(Political, Socio-Economic, Technology, Legal and

Reputational risk)

- Operational risk and
(Environmental, Compliance, IT, Fraud, Health &

Safety and Natural Disaster)

- Financial risk
(Foreign exchange risk, Credit risk, Market risk,
Liquidity risk and refer to note 4 of financial

statement for more detail)

Our approach to risk management is not to eliminate the
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risk entirely, but instead to manage our risk exposures
across the business, whilst at the same time making the
most of our opportunities. We aim to establish robust and
effective internal controls in place to bring the risk to as low
as reasonably practicable (ALARP) level, which will allow

the management to focus on treatment of residual risk.

The audit of risk management committee headed by a
financial expert had conducted (2) coordination meetings
with the Management and Business Development Com-
mittee for new projects in Solar and Trading Business. The
Audit & Risk Management Committee put up the outcomes

of risk assessment factors and suggestion to the Board of

Directors meeting.

MTSH Risk Management
Process (ISO 31000)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors’ Report for the Financial Year ended 30th September 2021 has been prepared in accordance

with the Myanmar Companies Act and the Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The explanation on Risk Management are expressed on page (60).

DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTIONS
FY 2019-2020 final dividend/distribution of MMK 7,007,247,000 (MMK 180 per ordinary share) was approved
on 20th January 2021.

In respect of FY 2020-2021, a final dividend/distribution of MMK 100 per share, amounting to MMK
3,892,915,000 was proposed by the Directors at a Board of Directors’” Meeting held on 20th December 2021.

Will be formally announced by the Board of Directors to the shareholders at the 9th Annual General Meeting.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
There has been no significant change in the Group’s state of affairs. The Company continues to engage in the

business of investment holding.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no material events subsequent to the end of the financial year.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be tabled by the Board of Directors to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting for the
reappointment of Win Thin & Associates (Certified Public Accountants) as the Company’s external auditors for

the Financial Year 2021-2022.

Non-Audit Services
Win Consulting Limited (a related company of Win Thin & Associates) was engaged as voting invigilator for

election of directors in Annual General Meeting.

We have engaged U Win Thin of Win Consulting Limited as our compliance officer. U Win Thin is the Chairman

of Win Thin & Associates. The appointment took effect from 14th March 2016.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors,

Win Aung

Chairman



2020-2021

ddodomnde g

JoJo 9581 00500€0m000 (p0)qodesd §0500323008[Gg0d0R [§§er§EE0rgaBgp: :205p06s0lggrSiqodypist [gSea§te
eq2a8qCa[gt:adEepdyp: (Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards) $&=208 [gigoon:cloopd

(o) :5p8Ea[gBoe83q
5:68Cc[g8oe§39q:0E:q/0503 engoden (Bo) og€ [gadegn eudlgooniclongbi

() =apqulommlgobeggeofgl:
Joog - JoJo 9oamsbop€ 9oedEiegoqd q,00q, 5,000 3205 03008quSux006gEiBanogo’ egogd (000)0B aquSun
[godegm[gd jo jo 9561 absdfco (o) qodege 000 cumadSdlaopdn
JoJo-Jo o oomedsacgad o o 9581 8aComco (Jo)qodesopt oq€:03000) §0domeag sopdizacos] peediEiegoyd
Q9L 298,000 308 20008quS00degE:Ba0R05 egyd (000)03 3pgSummalgodegm:gd Feoasaaoynd $ddgodI[d:
$003(0366[4r05 $600dESFe0geag32005:3360:03E 32050S0gEGPiE: elojooneuiepS[gdlacpd

(0) 9Boonco€epieann apbedE:adEep aaelgrEiaacdyp:
88033286 E600E[Goopd 0mc03a08:S a3o0colepieonn qpbe§idEiadlep elgptidygpiedeloyrE: 3203603268005

(00) ongmoeepqEiondigp: coob(g§fiesna3d8:omco
6eqE:008:qp: 00od[g§[Gies2058E:0m00pe FeeqpilecmelgpEiadygpiedeloyrE: 3203603268005

(c) [g€ooqf:od
[g§er8E0pgaByps sa05poeamg o jo- Jo ) 20a$b300305 [gEooeEiodaalgd ofionfslangd 320t 9§3268E§200305
Igodomnm o soem(3belgpod  sdocdropbaneageogmopdimacoiogf  =apqdumgEypiade  edigodgiodeopagniepd
[g6Cloopbe

(0) safgrro§escnyqp:
RE6Borgalel s6005pS3G0e0g3005:360:07Ci0a0pdmdl egEeoNHZoRE oleepadupdGEoogd dodommag,of
qpzeil 33eddgod[gE:ad8epaBgadyp:ad Win Consulting Limited sz ¢2:q6:68008g058310005

B3:[gE opgaBel Compliance Officer safgd Win Consulting Limited ¢ B:0€:00€s20: j006 9581 005w (0G)qobeg03E
0008 9§356000:310005n B:0E:00E2005 8836l [gEoengCiodealgd o§32600:000508:008 58953 61 pgrgg®loobn

38050038 03uSen:

o&eané

eRBs



2020-2021

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2021

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)
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MTSH MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC CO. LTD.

Shwe Zabu River View Complex, 23G-1, No.3B, Tower (A), Penthouse-01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township,
Yangon, Myanmar. Tel: (+951) 2301731, Email: info@mtshmyanmar.com

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

It is the responsibility of the management to prepare the consolidated statements of financial position of
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited (the Company) and its subsidiary (the
Group) as at 30 September 2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group,
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group, consolidated statement of cash flows of the
Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the management is required to:

— Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; and
— Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

The management is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group. We have general responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to us to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.

On behalf of Management

WIN AUNG
Chairman
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited

20 December
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

HEAD OFFICE:- Room (2B/2C) 1* Floor, Rose Condominium, No.182/194, Botahtaung Pagoda Road, Pazundaung Township,
Yangon Region, Myanmar. Tel: 95-1-8201798, 8296164, Fax: 95-1-8245671 Email: info@winthinassociates.com

MANDALAY BRANCH:-  Room (9/10), East Wing of Bahtoo Stadium, 70" Street (Between 29" & 30™ Street),
OFFICE Mandalay Region, Myanmar. Tel: 95-2-4034451, Fax: 95-2-4034498

Ref: 213/ M-255/ September 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of the Group of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited
Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiary (“the Group”) set out on pages 69 to 92 which comprise the consolidated state-
ment of financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2021, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
of the Group, the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group, consolidated statement of cash flows of the

Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material mis-

statement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting
Standards and the provision of the Myanmar Companies Law.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law, we also report that:
(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and
(ii) financial records have been maintained by the Company and by its subsidiary as required by
Section 258 of the Law.

Saw Nelson (PAPP-400)

Engagement Partner

WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

20 December 2021
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBA B M/TS H 5
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ‘a\/&
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2021 G * o5

Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 2021 2020
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 3,475,266 3,527,238
Intangible asset 7 1,746 3,096
Investment in associate 8 40,547,919 37,941,370
Other investment 9 10,000 10,000
Investment property 10 4,129,093 4,958,478
Deferred tax assets 11 36,866 11,453
Net receivable under installment sales 12 41,535 281,938
Other assets 13 289,856 198,911
48,532,281 46,932,484
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14 16,103,556 16,882,587
Trade and other receivables 15 1,546,377 1,515,209
Inventories 16 26,582,421 26,173,781
Construction contract work in progress 17 - -
44,232,354 44,571,577
92,764,635 91,504,061
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Issued and paid-up share capital 18 38,929,150 38,929,150
Retained profits 42,384,699 40,905,027
81,313,849 79,834,177
Non-controlling interest 7,893,642 7,534,109
89,207,491 87,368,286
Non-current liabilities
Advance from customers 1,235,224 2,285,705
1,235,224 2,285,705
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 2,118,946 1,850,070
Current tax liability 202,974 -
2,321,920 1,850,070
92,764,635 91,504,061

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Authenticated by:
WIN AUNG TUN LWIN THURANE AUNG YU WAR TUN

Chairman, MTSH Director, MTSH Head of Finance, MTSH

MTSH=Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Co., Ltd.

Director, MTSH
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2021
Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 2021 2020
Revenue 20 2,947,812 2,489,039
Cost of sales 23 (962,195) (1,302,647)
Gross Profit 1,985,617 1,186,392
Other income 21 128,812 699.410
Realised exchange gains 1,457,836 28,818
Unrealised exchange gains/ (losses) 22 4,638,754 (3.644,896)
Selling, marketing and business development
expenses 23 (29,236) (44,152)
Administrative expenses 23 (1,738,974) (2,276,464)
Profit/ (loss) for the year 6,442,809 (4,050,892)
Share of profit of associate 8 2,581,204 8,628,280
Profit before tax 9,024,013 4,577,388
Income tax expense 24 (177,561) (444)
Net profit for the year 8,846,452 4,576,944
Other comprehensive income for the year - —
Total comprehensive income for the year 8,846,452 4,576,944
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 8,486,919 4,704,009
Non-controlling interests 359,533 (127,065)
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 8,486,919 4,704,009
Non-controlling interests 359,533 (127,065)
Earnings per share (K per share)
Basic earnings per share 25 218 121

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



N

2020-2021

ANNUAL REPORT

"SJUWIAIDIS [D12UDUL PIDP]OSU0D Y] JO 1ivd [D.A3dJUl UD 24D S2]OU Y|

987°89¢€°L8 60T FES'L LTO'S06°0% 0S1°676°8€ 0207 1dqudag (g ye ddueeg
(0€8°58L°L) — (0£8°58L°L) - SISUMO 0} SUOINGLISIP PUE WOLJ SUONNGIIUOD [B10]
(0€8°¢8L°L) = (0€8°58L°L) = puapIAI(
- - - [endes axeys Jo anss|
SIJUMO 0} SHOINGLAISIP PUB WOAJ SUOTNGLIUC))
vP6'9LS (€90°LZ1) 600°70L Y - 182K 2y 10] 9WooUl JAISUSYRIdWoD jeio],
- - = - TeaA 9([} 0] SWOdUI SAISUYRIdUIOD 18I0
vP6°9LS Y (S90°LZ1) 600 V0L Y = IeaK 9y 10 1101
uioduI dAIsusaIdwmo;)
TLILLS 06 vLIT199°L 878°986°CY 0S1°626°8¢ 6107 12q0RQ T J€ Ruejeg
16V°L0T°68 TP9°€68'L 669°V8E Y 0S1°676'8€ 1207 12quadag o¢ 18 uereyg
LyT°LOOL) - yTLooL) - SISUMO 0] SUOHNGLISIP PUE WOJJ SUOINGLIUOD [210
(L¥T°LOOL) = (LyT'LO0°L) = PUSPIAL]
- - - - [endes sreys Jo anss|
SIUAO 0) STONNQLISIP PUE WOIJ STONNGLIU0))
SK'9r8°8 £€5°65€ 616'981'8 - 183k By} 10} 2WOOUT AAISUSYR1dWOD (€10
- - - - Te9A 2} JOJ SWODUI DAISUIYSIAIOD IS0
5V'0v8°s £€5°6S€ 616°98%'8 - Ieak oy I0J 1joid
amooug dAaIsHIYaxduio))
987'89€°L8 60LPES L LT0°S06°0F 0ST°676°8€ 0707 12q012Q [ 18 duE[Eyg
FCEX ST eadeds aaeys
Amba o], surfonnuod-uoy  syuyoad pourerdy dn-pred pue panssy

(spuesnoy | uy) jeAY JewueAp — Asus.umn))

1707 HHGWHLJES 0€ FHANT IVHIA HHL 904
ALINOI NI STONVHD 40 INTFWALVLS AALVAITOSNOD

AAVIAISINS SLI GNV GALINIT ANVJINOD DIT1d1d SONIATOH Z3S VAV TIHL AVIANVAN



2020-2021

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY

LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2021
Currency — Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands)

Note 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 9,024,013 4,577,388
Adjustment for non-cash items:
Depreciation 390,914 446,120
Amortisation 1,350 1,976
Write-off 1,397 29,031
Unrealised profit adjustment (63,434) (52,374)
Share of profit of associate {2,581,204) (8,628,280)
Operating profit/ (loss) before working capital changes 6,773,030 (3,626,139
Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables (31,168) 975,391
Inventories 329,923 387,876
Construction contract work in progress - 16,270
Trade and other payables 268,876 (219,203)
Advance from customers (1,050,481) (433,078)

6,290,186 (2,898,883)

Income tax paid - (1,503)
Net cash provided by/ (used in) operating activities 6,290,186 (2,900,386)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (211,827) (419,688)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 399 4,077
Dividend received from associate - -
Other assets (90,945) (106,409)
Net receivable under installment sales 240,403 (126,925)
Net cash used in investing activities (61,970) {648,945)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid to shareholders (7,007,247) {7,785,830)
Net cash used in financing activities (7,007,247) {7,785,830)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (779,031) (11,335,161)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16,882,587 28,217,748
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year i4 16,103,556 16,882,587

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2021

1. General information

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Company Limited (the Company) was incorporated in the
Republic of the Union of Myanmar on 3 May 2013 under the Myanmar Companies Act. The Act
has been replaced by the Myanmar Companies Law 2017. As such, the Company has been re-
registered and issued Company Registration No. 151830293 according to the new Law.

On 26 May 2013, pursuant to the Cooperation Memorandum, the Company signed a Memorandum
of Understanding with MMST LLP (MMS Thilawa Limited Liability Partnership) for the purpose
of establishing the Joint Venture Company for the development, marketing, sales and operation of
the Class A Project.

On 29 October 2013, pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding mentioned above, the
Company, the Thilawa SMC (Thilawa SEZ Management Committee) and MMSTD (MMS Thilawa
Development Co., Ltd) entered into the Joint Venture Agreement in connection with the
establishment of the TV Company to undertake the development, construction, marketing, sales and
operation of the Class A project. The Joint Venture Company was established -as Myanmar Japan
Thilawa Development Ltd. (MJTD).

Under the Joint Venture Agreement, subject to the satisfaction of certain prescribed conditions
precedent, the Company will collectively subscribe for JV Company Shares of an initial aggregate
amount of US$50,000,000 in the proportions of 41%.

The principle business activities of the Company are to:

e invest in and participate in the management of the JV Company, which will engage in the
development, construction, marketing, sales and operation of the Class A Project;

e  market and sell the Class A Properties to Myanmar Related Entities as exclusive agent,
and market and sell the Class A Properties to parties which are not Myanmar Related
Entities or Japanese Related Entities jointly with the Japanese consortium members; and

o  engage in the development of Thilawa SEZ (other than the Class A Area) or any part
thereof as may be determined by our Directors in their discretion.

For additional information about the Company, please refer to the Company’s Prospectus dated 27
February 2014.

The registered office of the Company is Shwe Zabu River View Complex 23G-1, No. 3B, Tower
(A), Penthouse - 01 & 02, Strand Road, Ahlone Township, Yangon Region, Myanmar.

The Company is listed in Yangon Stock Exchange on 20 May 2016.

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.
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2.1

22

2.3

Basis of preparation

The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS) and have been based on historical cost
convention.

In preparing these financial statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been
made in comparative financial statements to conform to the classification used in current financial
statement.

Foreign currency translation
(1) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of
primary economic environment in which the Company operates (the “functional currency”). The
financial statements are presented in Myanmar Kyat, which is the presentation currency as well as
functional currency of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousands,
unless otherwise indicated.

(2) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement.

Group Accounting
(a) Subsidiaries
Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power to
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date on which control
ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and recognized gains on
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are
considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a
subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity
holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controiling interests based on their respective
interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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2.6

(b) Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control,
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not
exceeding 50%. Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses.

(¢} Equity method of accounting

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-
acquisition profits or losses are recognized in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other
comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. These post-acquisition
movements and distributions received from the associated companies are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company
equals to or exceeds its interest in the associated company, including any other unsecured non-
current receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has obligations to make or
has made payments on behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The accounting
policies of associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Investment in associate

Investment in associate is initially recognized at the transaction price (including transaction costs)
under the equity method of accounting and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee is recognized in the investor’s profit or loss.
Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental and/or capital appreciation (or both).
Investment properties are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated using a
straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts over the estimated useful lives of fifty
years or the balance of land use right.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of investment properties are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate, at each statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision
are included in profit or loss when the changes arise.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
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2.7

2.8

replaced part is de-recognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets under construction commences when the assets are ready items of property,
plant and equipment less their estimated residuals values using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful life. The estimated useful rates are as follows:

Leasehold land 2.19%
Plant 5%
Transformers 2.17%
Building 2%-2.17%
Waste storage house 5%
Machinery and equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Furniture and equipment 10% - 40%
Office renovation 5% - 20%

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
the reporting year. The effects of any revision are recognized in profit or loss when the changes
arise.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognized within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets
Accounting software

Accounting software license is initially capitalized at cost which includes the purchase prices (net
of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the asset for its
intended use. Direct expenditures are added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated
with maintaining the accounting software license are expensed off when incurred.

Computer software license is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. These ccsts are amortized to profit or loss using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives of five years equivalent to 20%.

The amortization year and amortization method of intangible assets are reviewed at least at each
statement of financial position date. The effects of any revision are recognized in profit or loss
when the changes arise.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and
contract costs are recognized as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the statement of financial position date (“percentage-of-
completion method”). When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognized to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the
expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.
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Variations in contract work, c¢laims and incentive payments are included in contract revenue when it
is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced
stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim and they are capable of being
reliably measured.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to
date to the estimated total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the financial year in
connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when
determining the stage of completion of a contract. Such costs are shown as construction contract
work-in-progress on the statement of financial position unless it is not probable that such contract
costs are recoverable from the customers, in which case, such costs are recognized as an expense
immediately.

At the statement of financial position dae, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognized profits
(less recognized losses) on each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where the
cumulative costs incurred plus the recognized profits (less recognized losses) exceed progress
billings, the balance is presented as due from customers on construction contracts within “trade and
other receivables”. Where progress billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus recognized
profits (less recognized losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on construction
contracts within “trade and other payables®”.

Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions by customers are included within “trade
and other receivables”. Advances received are included within “trade and other payables™.

2.9 Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost comprises cost of land
scraping cost, infrastructure development cost, direct labour and other direct cost. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and applicable variable selling expenses.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and deposits with various local banks.

2.11 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade and other
receivables are reduced by appropriate allowance for estimated irrecoverable amount.

2.12 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

2.13 Issued and paid-up share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

Dividends

Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognized when the dividends are approved for
payment.

Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of comsideration given by an entity in exchange for service
rendered by employees. Employee benefits are recognized as payable in the year in which the
benefits is earned by employee. Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is a probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligations; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future
operating losses.

Revenue

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Company. Revenue is shown net of sales (after deducting commercial tax)

(a) Rendering of services

Revenue for rendering services is recogrized over time as the services are provided. The related
costs are recognized in statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income when they are
incurred.

(b) Sale of goods — Land and building
Revenue from sales of goods is recognized when the goods are delivered and title has passed to the
customer.

(¢) Interest income
Interest income arising from deposit at financial institution is recognized when the effective interest
method.

(d) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Revenue from construction contracts
Please refer to the paragraph “construction contracts” for the accounting policy for the revenue
from construction contracts.

()  Rental income
Rental income is recognized when earned on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The current income tax is calculated on the
basic of the tax rate and tax law enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting year.
Current income tax is recognized in profit or loss.
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Deferred tax is recognized on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting year. Deferred tax is recognized as an expense or income in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognized outside
profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively).

Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. Actual
results may differ from these estimates,

Estimate and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future year
affected.

Infrastructure development costs

Infrastructure development costs of land are recorded as inventories during the construction stage
and an apportionment of these costs will be recognized in the statement of comprehensive income

upon the recognition of the revenue of the land under development.

These infrastructure costs comprise of awarded contracts and an estimation of future ones. The total

costs were estimated by a third-party proZessional Quantity Surveyor and periodically re-validated

internally,

Before the final settlement of the development costs and other costs relating to the land under
development, these costs are based on management’s best estimate. Where the final settlement of
costs and the related cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any increase or decrease
in the development costs and other costs would affect the profit or loss in future years,

Financial risk management

The Group’s financial risk management palicy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are
available for the development of the Group’s business whilst managing its risks. The main arcas of
financial risks faced by the Group and the policy in respect of the major areas of treasury activity
are set out as follows:

Foreign exchange risk

The Group has exposure to foreign exchange risk due to assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies. However, the Group does not hedge its exposures to foreign exchange risk as
the risk is not expected to be significant.

Credit risk

The maximum credit risk associated with recognized financial assets is the carrying amount shown
in the statement of financial position. However, policies had been established by the Group to
minimize such risks.
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Market risk
The Group is not exposed to any market risk.
Liquidity and cash flow risks

The Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances deemed adequate by the directors to
finance the operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flow.

5.  Capital management

The Group’s objectives, when managing its capital, are to safeguard and maintain adequate working
capital to continue as a going concern.
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7. Intangible asset
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) Software
Cost
Balance at 1 October 2020 11,495
Addition —
Balance at 30 September 2021 11,495
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at 1 October 2020 (8,399)
Amortisation (Note 23) (1,350)
Impairment loss -
Balance at 30 September 2021 (9,749)
Net book value
At 30 September 2021 1,746
Cost
Balance at 1 October 2019 11,495
Addition -
Balance at 30 September 2020 11,495
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at 1 October 2019 (6,423)
Amortisation (Note 23) (1,976)
Impairment loss -
Balance at 30 September 2020 (8,399)
Net book value
At 30 September 2020 3,096
8.  Investment in associate
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Opening balance 37,941,370 29,268,858
Proportionate net profit for the year 2,581,204 8,628,280
Dividend received - -
Unrealised profit adjustment 25,345 44,232
Carrying value 40,547,919 37,941,370

The Company's share of profit in its equity-accounted investee (i.e, Myanmar Japan Thilawa
Development Limited) for the year was Kyats 2,581,204,221.65 (USD 1,339,424.12@ Kyats
1927.1) (2020: Profit Kyats 8,628,280,273.15 (USD 6,594,023.9@ Kyats 1308.5)). The equity
accounted investee is not publicly listed entity and consequentially does not have published price

quotations.



2020-2021

The following amounts represent the assets and the liabilities and income and expenses of the

associate.
USD (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Owner-ship 41% 41%
Current assets 69,041 67,610
Non-current assets 19,492 19,727
Total assets 88,533 87,337
Current liabilities 9,521 11,734
Non-current liabilities 2,189 2,047
Total liabilities 11,710 13,781
Net assets 76,823 73,556
Income 13,465 38,988
Expenses (10,198) (22,904)
Profit 3,267 16,084
Share of profit 1,339 6,594

9,  Other investment (MMK 10,000,000)
The above amount represents investment in Myanmar Kyauk Phyu SEZ Holding Consortium
Public Co., Ltd by the Company.

10. Investment property

Land and
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) building
Cost
Balance at 1 October 2020 5,487,548
Transferred to inventories (749,019)
Balance at 30 September 2021 4,738,529
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 October 2020 (400,232)
Depreciation (Note 23) (128,911)
Transferred to inventories 38,675
Impairment loss =
Balance at 30 September 2021 {490,468)
Unrealised profit adjustment (118,968)
Net book value
At 30 September 2021 4,129,093
Cost
Balance at 1 October 2019 4,989,582
Transferred from inventories 497,966
Balance at 30 September 2020 5,487,548
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 October 2019 (264,891)
Depreciation (Note 23) (135,341)
Impairment loss -
Balance at 30 September 2020 (400,232)
Unrealised profit adjustment (128,838)
Net book value
At 30 September 2020 4,958,478
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The Company’s investment property at 30 September 2021 includes three buildings of workers
accommodation at recreational and commercial area of Thilawa SEZ. The Directors are of the view
that a fair value of the property cannot be ascertained at 30 September 2021. The opinion is based
on the following facts:

1. There is no such asset of this specification in Thilawa,

2. There is no history of such similar property transacted in Thilawa; and

3. No sales of any asset type have been recorded in the Thilawa SEZ.

As such, it is not possible for a valuation to be done on a willing-buyer/willing-seller basis. As
such, the market comparable approach cannot be adopted. To value the property using the income
capitalization approach, the property has to be given sufficient time for leasing, and stabilization of
that yield, for the capitalization rate to be applied. Since occupation permit was only quite recently
obtained, the rental process is only in the beginning stage. Hence, the income capitalization
approach cannot be adopted.

Given that the first two valuation methods cannot be applied, the third would be the cost approach.
This assumes that a reasonable buyer would have to pay equal or more than the cost of constructing
a comparable building. The cost approach is probably the most prudent in estimating the book/
reinstatement value of such an asset at 30 September 2021.

During the year from 1 October 2020 to 30 September 2021, three units of shop house has been
transferred to inventory with its net book value. The property held for rent in the ordinary course of
business.

As of 30 September 2021, the Company’s investment property includes:

1. Three buildings of workers accommodation
2. One units of type A shop house facing main road

Details of the group’s investment properties ar:d information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30
September 2021 are as follows:

Fair value as at

30 September
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021

Investment property
Workers accommodation = - 11,058,732 11,058,732
Unit A — Main road 450,000 - — 450,000

For unit A — Main road, the fair value was derived using the market comparable approach based on
recent market price of similar property with adjustment made for frontage.

For investment properties categorized into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the following
information is relevant:
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Investment - Valuation Significant Sensitivity
property technique unobservable input(s)
Workers Income Capitalization rate Increase in the capitalization rate
accommodation capitalization used would result decrease in fair
approach value, and vice versa.
Occupancy rate Decrease in the occupancy rate

used would result decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

Monthly rental Decrease in the monthly rental
used would result decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

One unit of type A facing main road was transferred from Level 2 to Level 1 and there were no
other transfer during the year.

The fair value of investment properties is not based on valuation by an independent valuer.

The property rental income from the group’s investment properties all of which are leased out under
operating lease amounted to MMK 254,288 (thousand). Direct operating expenses (including
repairs and maintenance) arising from the rental —generating investment properties amounted to
MMK 168,061 (thousand).

11. Deferred tax
Deferred tax is calculated by applying income tax rate on deductible temporary difference, arrived
at upon deducting the carrying value from tax base amount of property, plant and equipment.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are
shown on the financial position as follows:

Accelerated tax depreciation on

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) property, plant and equipment
Balance at 1 October 2020 11,453
(Charge)/ credit to profit or loss (Note-24) 25,413
Balance at 30 September 2021 36,866
Balance at 1 October 2019 11,897
(Charge)/ debit to profit or loss (Note-24) (444)
Balance at 30 September 2020 11,453

12. Net receivable under installment sales

The Company sold its shop houses under installment plan during the year ended 30 September
2021. Net present value of installment payments to be received are recognized as revenue and
receivable. The Company use interest rate implicit in the contract as discount rate to measure the
net present value. These properties are de-recognized from the inventory and carrying amount is
recognized under cost of sales. The selling profit is the difference between revenue and cost of
sales,
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The Company recognize the finance income and allocate over the installment term.

(a) Selling profit from installment sales

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Selling profit - 192,596
(b) Receivable under installment sales

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Gross receivable under installment sales 254,674 518,329
Less: Unearned finance income (11,969) (68,910)
242,705 449,419
Less: current portion (Note 15) (201,170) (167,481)
41,535 281,938

(¢) Undiscounted installment payments to be received
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Within one year 212,228 204,171
Second to third years 42,446 314,158
254,674 518,329

13.  Other assets
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Logistics Dependent Industrial Area 86,706 86,706
Myit Kyi Nar Economic Development Zone 7,005 7,005
Gyo Gone Redevelopment Project 175,645 105,200
AGRO-Industrial Park 20,500 —
289,856 198,911
14. Cash and cash equivalents

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Cash in hand 63,035 21,742
Cash at bank 16,040,521 16,860,845
16,103,556 16,882,587
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15.

Trade and other receivables

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Trade receivables from
- Related parties* 332,267 225,324
- Non-related parties 52,140 22,049
Other receivable from non-related parties 7,534 20,944
Net receivable under installment sales (Note 12) 201,170 167,481
Construction contract - Due from related parties** - 24,315
Accrued income
- Related parties - 30,317
- Non-related parties 21,512 16,260
Deposit 219,054 218,390
Prepayments and advance 30,681 29,012
Advance income tax 30,207 30,207
Advance commercial tax 651,812 730,910
1,546,377 1,515,209

* It comprises management services fees receivable from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development

Limited (MJTD).

¥# It comprises Municipal road construction services fees receivables from Myanmar Japan
Thilawa Development Limited (MJTD) for the successful contract between MITD and the

Company on 5 April 2016.

16. Inventories
Inventories include cost of leasehold land acquired from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development
Limited (MJTD) for the development of residential and commercial area of Thilawa Special
Economic Zone. It also includes the cost of land scraping, infrastructure development, eighteen
units of shop houses and shop houses construction.

17. Constraction contract

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Construction contract work in progress

Beginning of financial year - 16,270
Contract costs incurred - 136,454
Contract expenses recognized in profit or loss — (152,724)
End of financial year — -
Aggregate costs incurred and profits recognized (less losses

recognized) to date on uncompleted construction contracts - 263,458
Less: Progress billing - (233,141)
Unbilled to customers current financial year - 30,317
Due from related party on construction contracts (Note 15)

Billed to customer - 24,315
Unbilled to customers — current financial year - 30,317
Unbilled to customers — previous financial year - -
End of financial year - 54,632
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18. Issued and paid-up share capital
No. of ordinary shares issued Issued and fully paid-up
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands}) share capital
2021 2020 2021 2020
Beginning of financial year 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150
Issued of shares - - - —
End of financial year 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150 38,929,150
19. Trade and other payables
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Trade payables to non-related parties 26,208 29,763
Construction contract-due to supplier 120,417 283,542
Other payables to
- Related parties 91,764 51,259
- Non-related parties 159,009 117,269
Deposit from suppliers 13,697 23,156
Accrued expenses 217,007 92,947
Unpaid dividend 1,458,970 1,191,883
Deferred rental income
- Related parties 213 795
- Non-related parties 17,538 54,076
Commercial tax 14,123 5,368
Advance receipt — 12
2,118,946 1,850,070
20. Revenue
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Management fees 1,037,579 914,431
Construction revenue - 254,629
Rental income 254,288 369,538
Sale of land 1,370,200 -
Sale of building - 687,951
Telecommunication 17,226 18,415
Utilities income 268,519 244,075
2,947,812 2,489,039

Management fees

Management fees are received from Myanmar Japan Thilawa Development Limited (MIJTD) in
consideration of management services provided by the Company for the following personnel;

(1) Chairman

(2) Vice President (Myanmar Desk)

(3) Head of Finance & Accounting

(4) Head of Administration & Human Resources
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Construction revenue

The above mainly comprises of a road construction contract and construction of rental factory B

extension from MJTD.

Rental income

The above comprises of rental of rooms in dormitory, food court and shop house.
Sale of [and

The above comprises of sale of land to Max Energy Company Limited.

Sale of building

The above comprises of sale of shop houses to U Maung Maung Gyi.

Telecommunication

The above comprises of fixed element and revenue sharing variable element for granting access of

fiber optic cable to telecommunication service provider.

Utilities income

The above comprises of water, electricity and common area maintenance fees from the banks, shop

house, rented shops and food court.

21. Other income
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Interest income 61,887 569,640
Miscellaneous income 19,359 91,847
Finance income under lease 47,566 37,923
128,812 699,410
22, Unrealised exchange gains/ (losses)

The above mainly include the foreign exchange gains/ (losses) arising from revaluation of US

Dollar cash balances at the end of reporting years.

o
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23. [Expenses by nature
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Land cost 413,943 -
Construction contract cost - 152,724
Cost of rental and dormitory 168,061 236,952
Building cost - shop house - 503,266
Utilities cost 186,016 191,764
Write off - property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 1,397 29,031
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 262,003 310,779
Depreciation of investment property (Note 10) 128,911 135,341
Amortisation of intangible asset (Note 7) 1,350 1,976
Employee benefit expenses (Note 23-a) 591,450 749,388
Key management personnel and director compensations
(Note 26-b) 603,428 782,618
Selling, marketing and business development expenses 29,236 44,152
Rental expense 13,010 78,684
Transportation expense 18,975 27,451
Listing expense 9,475 8,099
Other expense 366,584 423,412
Unrealised profit adjustment (63,434) (52,374)
2,730,405 3,623,263
23-a. Employee benefit expenses
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Wages and salaries 488,433 565,910
Other benefits 102,997 183,478
591,450 749,388
24, Income tax expense
Myanmar Kyat {In Thousands) 2021 2020
Current tax expenses 202,974 -
Deferred income tax (Note 11) (25,413) 444
177,561 444
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25. [Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
years.
Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
(Myanmar Kyat in thousands) 8,486,919 4,704,009
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
for basic earnings per share (shares in thousands) 38,929 38,929
Basic earnings per share 218 121
Per value of shares (Myanmar Kyat) 1,000 1,000
26. Related party transactions

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
following transactions took place between the holding company and the related parties at terms
agreed between the parties:

(a) Sales and purchase of goods and services

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Management fees from MJTD 1,037,579 914,431
Rental revenue from MJTD 420 -
Construction revenue from MJTD - 254,629

Other related parties comprise mainly companies which are controlled or significantly influenced
by the holding company’s key management personnel which are as follows:

No. Company Name Related Position 2021 2020
Executives Kyats 000 Kyats '000

1 Shwe Me U Tun Lwin Director 13.052 61,467

Yoma Fleet U Theim Wai  Vice Chairman 1,250,000 -

3 Dagon International Limited U Win Aung Chairman 9,309 -

Outstanding balances of related parties are disclosed in Notes 15 and 19 respectively.

(b) Key management personnel and director compensation

Myanmar Kyat (In Thousands) 2021 2020
Director remuneration 70,000 72,000
Director bonus

- April 2019 to September 2019 - 63,829
- October 2019 to September 2020 - 52,120
- October 2020 to September 2021 91,764 -
Key management personnel remuneration 406,102 514,021
Key management bonus 35,562 80,648

603,428 782,618
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(c) Significant agreements with related parties
Management fees
The Company entered into management memorandums with MIJTD for which to provide

management services. Under the term of these memorandums, the Company is entitled to receive
management fees as stipulated in the memorandum and will expire in January 2022,

27.

Events occurring after the reporting date

Board of Directors of the Company has resolved on 20 December 2021 to propose a dividend of
Ks. 100 per share for the year ended 30 September 2021,

28‘

Authorization of financial statements

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2021 were authorized for
issue on 20 December 2021.
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RESPONSIBLE ENTITY

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS
PUBLIC CO.,, LTD.

Company Registration No. 151830293

SHWE ZABU RIVER VIEW COMPLEX, 23G-1, NO.3B,
TOWER (A), PENTHOUSE- 01 & 02, STRAND ROAD,
AHLIONE TOWNSHIP, YANGON, MYANMAR.

ASSOCIATE

MYANMAR JAPAN THILAWA
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED
Company Registration No. 103789656
ADMINITRATION BUILDING, MJTD OFFICE,
DAGON THILAWA ROAD, THILAWA SEZ,
THANLYIN TOWNSHIP, YANGON

SUBSIDIARY

THILAWA PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED

Company Registration N0.101952428

TPD OPERATION CENTRE, THILAWA SPECIAL ECONOMIC
ZONE, R&C AREA, ZONE (A), KYAUK TAN TOWNSHIP,
YANGON, MYANMAR

AUDITOR

WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES (CERTIFIED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT)

ROOM (2B/2C), 1ST FLOOR, ROSE CONDOMINIUM,
NO, 182/194, BOTAHTAUNG PAGODA ROAD,
PAZUNDAUNG TOWNSHIP, YANGON

INVESTOR INQUIRES

MYANMAR THILAWA SEZ HOLDINGS
PUBLIC CO,, LTD.

SHWE ZABU RIVER VIEW COMPLEX, 23G-1, NO.3B,
TOWER (A), PENTHOUSE- 01 & 02, STRAND ROAD,
AHLIONE TOWNSHIP, YANGON, MYANMAR

TEL: +9512301772, 2301773, 2301853
WEB: www.mtshmyanmar .com
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SHWE ZABU RIVER VIEW COMPLE

23G-1, No.3B, Tower (A), 9t Floor (Penthouse)::?;\
Strand Road, Ahlone Township, Yangon, Myanmar.™
Tel : 4951 2301772, 2301773, 2301853 N
E-mail : info@mtshmyanmar.com \
Website : www.mtshmyanmar.com \ \






